1959

Stratford L. Wendelboe v. Richard B. Jacobson, Billy Joe Lang and John H. Douglas : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff and appellant will be referred to as plaintiff or in his own name, and the defendants and respondents will be referred to collectively as defendants or individually in their own names.

All italics are ours.

The plaintiff Stratford L. Wendelboe, a private citizen,

brought this action against defendants Richard B. Jacobson and Billy Joe Lang, police officers of Salt Lake City, Utah, and defendant John H. Douglas, a special police officer of Salt Lake City, Utah, in three causes of action, (1) for assault and battery, (2) for false arrest and imprisonment, and (3) for malicious prosecution. On each cause of action the plaintiff asked for \$5,000.00 actual and \$5,000.00 punitive damages (R. 1-5).

The defendants answered plaintiff's complaint and defendant John H. Douglas denied that he acted affirmatively or participated in any way in what he termed the lawful imprisonment and arrest of plaintiff by defendants Jacobson and Lang. The defendants claimed the plaintiff's injuries and damages arose from his unlawful resisting of arrest by defendants and from his attempt to flee and from his unlawful assault and battery upon the defendants. As to the third cause of action dealing with malicious prosecution, they claimed they were advised by competent legal authority that they should proceed with the complaints, and they further claimed that all the charges were made upon good faith and upon proper cause (R. 6-8).

On the 24th of November, 1958, the plaintiff replied to defendants' answer (R. 9). The case came on for pretrial on the 24th of November, 1958. The pretrial merely made certain stipulations and the admission of certain photo exhibits. The one important matter which could have cut the time of this trial in half was not decided. The original transcript of the proceedings of Salt Lake City against Wendelboe, certified by the court reporter, was offered in evidence. The Judge did

not admit it and said there would be an issue on its admissibility. This transcript contained all the testimony of the three defendants in this case against Wendelboe for resisting an officer, and had the evidence contained in that transcript been admitted or stipulated, the record in this case would have been cut in half. Bickering between counsel and the Court and the Court and the plaintiff would have been practically eliminated.

The case came on for trial on the 15th day of January, 1959, at which time the plaintiff submitted to the defendants and to the Court his requested instructions. The defendants' requested instructions were not served upon the plaintiff until the 19th day of January, 1959. The jury was impaneled and the case proceeded to trial on January 15th, Thursday the 16th, Friday the 17th, and the Court, having an important commitment in California the following week, had the case proceed on Saturday morning, and on Monday the 20th. The Court instructed the jury and the case was argued and submitted to the jury the afternoon of the 20th. The jury did not reach a verdict that evening and was excused, and the following day about noon, returned a verdict of no cause of action on each count.

The following is a list of the exhibits offered in evidence. Unless otherwise indicated, they were received.

Exhibit 1. A map of the locality

- 2 to 7. Large photos showing injuries to the plaintiff Wendelboe
- 8 to 11. Small photos of the intersection
- 12. Registration of automobile of plaintiff

13. Army ID card, admitted for illustration purposes and withdrawn
14. Plaintiff's temporary driver's license
15. Trousers
16. Shirt and jacket
17. Coat
18. Thirteen sheets of newspaper clippings
19. Supplemental report of defendant Jacobson, not admitted
20. Statement of defendant Jacobson
21. Statement of defendant Douglas, not admitted
22. Statement of Billy Joe Lang
23. Booking sheet at city jail, not admitted
24. Report of alcohol analysis of plaintiff
25. Evidence report
26. Vehicle complaint report, not admitted
27. Flashlight
28. Long coin purse
29. Clock in leather case
30. Copy of battery complaint, City vs. Wendelboe
31. Assault complaint, City vs. Wendelboe
32. Resisting complaint, City vs. Wendelboe
33. Amended resisting complaint, City vs. Wendelboe
34. Second amended resisting complaint, City vs. Wendelboe
35. Demurrer to resisting complaint, not admitted
36. Demurrer to battery complaint, not admitted
37. Demurrer to assault complaint, not admitted
38. Handcuffs and key

The plaintiff filed his notice of a motion for new trial claiming (1) the verdict was contrary to law, (2) the verdict was contrary to evidence, (3) error in law, and (4) prejudicial conduct of the court (R. 92). The defendants' motion for attorney fees and the motion for new trial were heard on

February 4, 1959. The motion for new trial was argued and promptly denied; attorney Shirley P. Jones, Jr., defendants' counsel, was sworn and testified; and the Court ordered attorney fees to be fixed at \$1250.00 and fixed the witness fees (R. 94-97).

Then, within the time allowed by law, the plaintiff filed his appeal to the Supreme Court (R. 100). The plaintiff made his designation of record (R. 102). The defendants cross-appealed (R. 101) and asked for an additional designation of record on appeal (R. 104).

To try and aid this Court, the writers have set out in full in the appendix the following exhibits: 14, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 24, and have set out the following instructions: No. 18, 19, and 21.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Stratford L. Wendelboe, the plaintiff, had been a resident of Utah for thirty-seven years. He was a graduate and post-graduate of the University of Utah. In 1943 he entered the army as a private and was discharged as a lieutenant in 1946. He remained as an officer in the reserves, and at the time of the trial he was a captain.

He married in 1950 and lives with his wife and two children at 1171 East Fouth South. In April, 1958, plaintiff had a phone and a listing in the phone book (R. 465). Since 1953, he worked in Salt Lake City as a real estate salesman, then he operated his own brokerage office for three years. After that he was a salesman. Because of unemployment, on February

14, 1958, he obtained a chauffeur's license and began driving Yellow Cab. His shift with Yellow Cab was from 3:00 p.m. until 1:00 a.m. (R. 107-112).

The plaintiff enjoyed a very good reputation for truth and veracity and a very good reputation for being a peaceful and law-abiding citizen in this community. Dr. William P. Runslar, a professor in the Department of Foreign Languages at the University of Utah for thirty-two years, testified as to plaintiff's excellent reputation. Dr. Runslar had known the plaintiff for twenty to twenty-five years (R. 391-393).

Defendant Richard B. Jacobson, twenty-eight years of age, joined the Police Force in March, 1954. At the time of the incident he was a third grade patrolman assigned to radio patrol division (R. 247).

Defendant Billy Joe Lang, twenty-five years of age, had only been with the Police Department three months at the time of this occurrence and he was a sixth grade patrolman (R. 347).

Defendant John H. Douglas, a jeweler by occupation, twenty-one years of age, was a reserve police officer. He graduated in March, 1958, and was sworn in on April 16, 1958 (R. 325).

On April 5, 1958, the plaintiff went to work about 3:00 p.m. driving Yellow Cab. At about 2:00 a.m. he stopped at his home and gave his wife \$25.00, then he went to the cab company and checked out about 3:00 a.m. April 6th (R. 112-113). He entered his own car, a 1950 Chevrolet sedan which had been driven almost 100,000 miles. The body was rusting

through and the upholstery was dilapidated (R. 112-114). Both Jacobson and Lang described this car as being a "clunk" (R. 251 and 360). The plaintiff was going home. He drove to South Temple, then east to Fifth East and down Fifth East to Second South, where he parked with the intention of buying an evening newspaper at the stand connected with the pole on the southwest corner of the intersection (see Exhibit 10). He had followed a police car down Fifth East. He parked some thirty to fifty feet south of the intersection. The defendants claimed it was farther south (defendant Jacobson measured what he thought was the distance three days before the trial and testified plaintiff's car was seventy feet south (R. 251). Plaintiff was waiting for the police car to get out of the locality before he got out of the car (R. 115-116). The reason for this was that once before the plaintiff had been stopped by police officers while getting a newspaper from a stand. The police claimed that he was trying to steal change from the stand. The plaintiff didn't want to go through that again (R. 220).

Second South and Fifth East was a lighted intersection according to officer Jacobson (R. 251). (See Exhibit 1, a map of the locality, and Exhibits 8-11, photos of the locality). There was a service station under construction on the southwest corner (R. 116). The plaintiff was sitting in the car with a nickel in his hand waiting for the officers to go so he could get his paper without fuss and trouble (R. 221).

On this night defendant Jacobson, the senior officer of the three defendants, was on duty from 11:30 p.m. through 7:30 a.m. Defendant Billy Joe Lang was with him and also de-

fendant John H. Douglas, who was there for the purpose of training. They were all in uniform and armed with revolvers and tear gas guns. Douglas' assignment that night was to watch defendants Lang and Jacobson and learn the ropes of police work (R. 247-249). Defendants hadn't made an arrest or questioned anybody up to the time of the Wendelboe occurrence. This was the first opportunity for them to show trainee Douglas how it was done (R. 348). The defendants Jacobson and Lang were instructing defendant Douglas by demonstration how to take care of suspicious people (R. 324).

There is no dispute that the police car drove up, facing north, alongside plaintiff's car, facing south. The officers Jacobson and Lang got out on the driver's side of Wendelboe's car and defendant Douglas covered the front of plaintiff's car. Defendant Lang testified that Douglas was stationed there to observe (R. 348-350). All agree that officer Jacobson approached the plaintiff and that he asked for identification. Wendelboe claims that he reached into his wallet and started hunting for his driver's license. Jacobson then asked him what he was doing there and the plaintiff answered "Just minding my own business" or "None of your business." The defendants assert and the plaintiff denies that he used the word "damn" for emphasis (R. 117-118). Wendelboe claims that before he could find his driver's license he was ordered out of the car by Jacobson, and that he finished thumbing through and found his driver's license and gave it to Jacobson while out of the car. The certificate to the 1950 Chevrolet was in the plaintiff's wallet.

The plaintiff Wendelboe produced his temporary driver's

license (Exhibit 14), Wendelboe's name and address on it, and defendant Jacobson asked plaintiff where he lived and he said his name was Stratford L. Wendelboe and that he lived at 1171 East Fourth South (R. 112-121).

Defendant Jacobson testified that when he approached Wendelboe and asked for some identification that Wendelboe produced the driver's license (Exhibit 14) on which there was the name "Stratford L. Wendelboe," serial number and address of 378 South 12th East. Jacobson kept Exhibit 14 for some time and Jacobson claims he then asked him for other identification and that plaintiff didn't seem to respond (R. 250-251). He said he asked Wendelboe to step out because Wendelboe had upset him. The reason defendant Jacobson gives for being upset was that he claimed that the plaintiff thumbed right past his I.D. card and Jacobson thought perhaps it might be someone else's. Defendant Jacobson, notwithstanding he had Exhibit 14 (Wendelboe's driver's license) in his hand, claimed he didn't know who Wendelboe was (R. 312).

Jacobson claimed that he pointed to Wendelboe's identification card and said that that would be an excellent identification (R. 321-322). The defendants knew there were many cards in the wallet (R. 312).

It does not appear that officer Jacobson reached for the I.D. card or any of the cards in the wallet. After Wendelboe got out of his car the defendants took him over to the police car, forced him to put his hands on the roof of the car, and the defendants searched him and at that time, according to plaintiff, they took a travel clock (Exhibit 29) and a coin purse (Exhibit 28) out of his pockets. The defendants claim

they took a flashlight and a small book from his pockets at that time. The defendants claim the travel clock and coin purse were taken from the plaintiff later at the city jail.

According to the plaintiff, the defendants again asked him what he was doing there, which was the third time, and they said they were going to run him in if he didn't tell them, so he yelled out that he was just there to buy a newspaper.

The defendants became very angry and someone asked him where he wanted his car impounded. This was between the two cars. The defendants then placed the plaintiff in the rear of the police car. At no time was plaintiff Wendelboe asked if the car belong to him (R. 331).

The defendants nor any of them asked Wendelboe his occupation (R. 322). All three defendants observed Wendelboe's wallet and that it was full of cards.

Defendant Lang said plaintiff Wendelboe was told he could consider himself in custody before he was put in the police car, but he was not informed what he was in custody for (R. 355).

Before plaintiff Wendelboe was placed in the police car, he was told by the defendants that they were going to run him in and asked who he would like to have impound his car. Before Wendelboe could answer, he was placed in the police car. Wendelboe saw the officers searching his car; he tried to get out of the police car. He wanted to talk to the officers about impounding and searching his car, but defendant Lang had slammed the door of the car against his leg. Finally the door

of the car was released and the plaintiff Wendelboe got out and went over to talk to the officers (R. 123-124).

The defendants admit that Wendelboe was told he was under arrest before he was placed in the police car (see Jacobson's statement, Exhibit 20, and R. 272). However, Jacobson admitted that he told Wendelboe he could arrest him for vagrancy (R. 265). Defendant Jacobson also stated that he told the plaintiff Wendelboe while he was in the car that he could arrest him for not connecting himself with the car (R. 267).

They had no report of any stolen car similar to plaintiff Wendelboe's Chevrolet that evening and, notwithstanding the defendants were suspicious about whose car Wendelboe was in, they definitely asked him what wrecker he wanted to come and impound the car (R. 268). When Wendelboe didn't answer what wrecker he wanted, the defendant Jacobson called the dispatcher at the police station and asked that the nearest and quickest wrecker be sent. The dispatcher had access to the lists of cars and their numbers and owners. Officer Jacobson didn't ask the dispatcher to give him the listing of the license plates on the Wendelboe car. When asked why he didn't ask the dispatcher, Jacobson replied, "I just simply didn't." The defendants made no effort whatsoever to check the license plates. None of them asked Wendelboe whose car it was (R. 268-272). The simple act of checking the license on the Wendelboe car with the dispatcher could have ended all this confusion had any of the defendants wished to ask that question.

Wendelboe was not asked for the registration of his car

except right at the start. At that time defendant Jacobson told Wendelboe he could use his registration for identification and Wendelboe told him he had his driver's license right there (R. 181).

After Wendelboe was put in the back seat of the police car, no one got in to talk to him, and he was not asked for further identification (R. 196) and he was not again asked for the registration of his automobile (R. 197). Wendelboe was not given a chance to show his identity. All he wanted to do was get out of the police car to talk to the officers about impounding his car (R. 198-200).

Defendant Jacobson turned his back to the police car and started to search the Wendelboe car, and he became aware that Wendelboe was endeavoring to get out of the police car and defendant Lang was trying to close the door of the car but Wendelboe's foot was inserted in the door. So Jacobson said to defendant Lang, "Let him out if he wants to get out that badly" (R. 272, Exhibit 20). Defendant Jacobson meant that Wendelboe could get out of the police car even though he was under arrest (R. 272).

Defendant John H. Douglas stated that he and officer Jacobson were searching the Wendelboe car when he saw officer Lang endeavoring to keep Wendelboe inside the police car. His legs were between the door and the frame, and officer Lang was endeavoring to hold the door shut. Then officer Jacobson said, "Let him out if he wants out that bad. Maybe he will tell us who he is." Lang released the pressure on the door and Wendelboe came out toward his own car. He brushed or pushed officer Jacobson aside in a move that looked like he

was going directly to his car, but he didn't kick or strike either Lang or Jacobson. They both grabbed him (R. 334).

We go back to the plaintiff's version of what happened after he got out of the car. He went over toward his car to talk to the officers about the impounding and the two officers started raining blows with their fists and flashlights on him. He received a terrific blow on his nose, then blows rained down on him with fists and flashlights from all directions. At one time the butt end of a flashlight was rammed forcibly into his chest. He was hit on his head, his shoulders, his face, and his body, and he did not strike at them. All he did was to try to ward off the blows with one free hand. Then one of the officers wrapped his arm around plaintiff's neck and proceeded to bend him backward. Prior to that, one of them had said "Shall I give him the hold?" or words to that effect. Then he was rendered unconscious. The next thing he remembered, he was lying on the ground to the rear of his car with his hands handcuffed behind him and his face on the pavement. He felt terrible at that time. There was a man from the ambulance who wiped the blood off his face (see photos of Wendelboe, Exhibits 2 to 7, inclusive).

During the altercation, the plaintiff yelled and screamed very loud for the defendants to stop beating him (R. 131-132).

In regard to the fight, defendant Douglas testified that when Lang released the pressure on the police car door Wendelboe came out towards his car and pushed or brushed officer Jacobson aside but he did not either strike or kick either officer Lang or Jacobson. Both of the officers grabbed Wendelboe and then officer Jacobson threw the first blow that landed on the

chin of Mr. Wendelboe. This slowed Wendelboe up and they secured one handcuff. Then officer Lang struck Wendelboe over the head with a flashlight two or three times. Officer Douglas was carrying a tear gas pencil and he yelled for the officers to get back so he could fire the tear gas pencil at the plaintiff Wendelboe. Mr. Douglas said, "That actually would be, shall we say, an easy method of ending the skirmish," but he couldn't fire it because the other officers were present. He was willing to spray tear gas on Mr. Wendelboe but not on the other officers (R. 345). The two cars were only five feet apart (proposed Exhibit 21).

After Mr. Wendelboe had been hit several times with the flashlight, Jacobson put a judo hold on him which made him light-headed. He sank to his knees and officer Jacobson secured the other handcuff (R. 334-338).

The plaintiff Wendelboe, after the handcuffs were on him, was sitting on the ground back of the police car with his hands handcuffed behind him. Officer Douglas' opinion was that Wendelboe was not drunk (R. 343-344).

On cross-examination Mr. Douglas testified that Mr. Wendelboe had not been unnecessarily mishandled and the way he was treated was proper police procedure (R. 346).

Officer Lang's version of the fight:

Officer Lang said he was trying to keep Wendelboe in the police car when Jacobson said, "Let him out if he wants out that bad." The Wendelboe car was approximately ten feet from the police car. Officer Lang thought that Jacobson's purpose in letting him out was that there was a possibility he

wanted to *co-operate* with the officers. Mr. Lang admitted that he used the word "co-operate" all through his report and co-operate meant to answer questions but not imperiously (R. 359).

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