1959

Stratford L. Wendelboe v. Richard B. Jacobson, Billy Joe Lang and John H. Douglas : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

much confusion and obscurity on this point and states simply and clearly as follows :

“Such interference or resistance need not be in the form of physical force or violence, but it is sufficient that there be some direct action amounting to affirmative interference,” and this is exactly what Instruction No. 17 informed the jury that they must find against the plaintiff before they could find that he committed an offense when the Instruction says that if he *wilfully* resists, interferes with, delays or obstructs a police officer in the legal exercise of his duties, then such person at that moment by such statement or conduct itself is guilty of a crime and public offense. On the facts of this case, it seems clear beyond dispute that the plaintiff was surly, belligerent, defiant, and obstructed, delayed, and resisted these officers at every point in the entire incident from the time they first made the lawful request and inquiry with respect to his registration and his business there until the time that he attempted to break from lawful custody and committed an assault and battery on the officers and continuously through the entire evening right up through the booking process at the jail. There was no excuse or rhyme or reason for the plaintiff’s conduct and affirmative actions and statements in this case unless he was in fact trying to actually cover up some illegal activity that he was engaged in.

Plaintiff’s Point IV

Plaintiff states on Page 51 of his brief that it appears from the evidence that he was unmercifully beaten. This

statement is so completely untrue that respondents will discuss the matter under their own Point II at Page 36 in this brief.

Plaintiff further complains of Instruction No. 8 and insists that the Court should have directed a verdict on the cause of action for assault and battery for the plaintiff. The entire basis for this argument seems to be the assumption by plaintiff that he was not lawfully arrested. Respondents' position on this matter has already been stated in this brief. If we assume that the plaintiff was lawfully under arrest in the back seat of the police car before the altercation ever started, then certainly the only question left to consider is whether or not plaintiff attempted to remove himself from this custody and forcibly enter the automobile and leave the area, and if he did make such an attempt, whether reasonable force under the circumstances was used by the respondent officers to prevent him from so doing.

There certainly can be no question from the evidence in this case that plaintiff came out of the police car at a high rate of speed and knocked or pushed both officers aside in an apparent attempt to enter his automobile and leave the area (R. 273, 334, 339, and 318). There was nothing the officers could do under the circumstances except to stop him, and Instruction No. 8 fairly and adequately informed the jury that the amount of force and restraint used must be only the degree of force that the officers believe they had reasonable grounds for using and that amount of force that appeared necessary

to these defendants. The first blow struck by Officer Jacobson was not struck until after both he and Officer Lang had a hold of each arm of the plaintiff and were leading him back to the car and the plaintiff broke loose (R. 275), and this blow was certainly not very severe because it had no apparent effect on the plaintiff whatsoever and only seemed to rile him more (R. 276). Then Officer Jacobson managed to get a handcuff on one arm (R. 278), and plaintiff broke that arm free and in swinging and flailing it about cut Officer Jacobson quite a little bit (R. 463), and then and only then did Officer Lang hit him with the flashlight (R. 279). These blows were not severe or brutal and were not intended to injure plaintiff (R. 380). The minute both handcuffs were secured to the plaintiff's arms, all physical activity against him ceased (R. 381). As we will demonstrate under our own Point II, the plaintiff was not severely injured at all, and the truth of the matter is that these officers had no intention or design to injure the plaintiff and actually did a very good job of placing an extremely violent and powerful man under control without hurting him.

Plaintiff's Point V

This point in regard to the malicious prosecution cause of action will be discussed under respondents' Point III at Page 38 of this brief.

Plaintiff's Point VI

All the defendant officers were expressly charged with malice and punitive damages were sought. There-

fore, it certainly was permissible to show what was actually in their minds and what their frame of mind was on the night in question. The fact that they were patrolling an extremely dangerous area and were under specific instructions to completely check every suspicious situation (R. 403) certainly would be highly material and relevant on the question of malice, and, therefore, the evidence of Chief Skousen in this respect was permissible and proper in every sense. See also the comments of the Court below on this point at R. 401.

Plaintiff's Point VII

Throughout the trial plaintiff's attorney persistently and flagrantly in express violation of repeated rulings by the trial Court attempted to read from certain records and reports made by the police officers in connection with their departmental reports about the incident. The proper use of these documents as a basis of cross-examination and impeachment is not doubted, but they were not used for that purpose by plaintiff. Plaintiff's counsel persisted in an attempt to capitalize on certain grammatical errors or stilted language used in the reports by the defendants and to ridicule their ability to write. The conduct of plaintiff's counsel in persisting in these tactics throughout the trial was clearly improper, and he was able, in the judgment of attorney for respondents, to successfully convey to the jury the notion that perhaps there was something in those reports that defendants were trying to hide. Therefore, Officer Jacobson's primary report "Exhibit 20" and Officer Lang's

report "Exhibit 22" were admitted by respondents withdrawing their objections to the previous offerings. (R. 305, R. 376). It is submitted and perfectly apparent from all the reports that there is no material variance whatever in the information given in the officers' reports from their evidence at the trial.

The booking sheet "Exhibit 23" was simply the booking officers's version of what had been said to him by defendant officers and in no sense constituted any statement by them which was admissible for any purpose in this lawsuit and was properly excluded by the Court. Exhibits 19 and 21 which were not admitted by the Court, are merely written reports originally submitted by the officers as departmental record and do not purport to set forth the full and complete details of what occurred — they are secondary evidence and were not admissible under any theory propounded by plaintiff.

A reading of Rule 43(b) shows that there was no irregularity in defendants cross-examination by their own counsel after they had been called by plaintiff. The rule expressly authorizes such cross-examination — and in any event no unfair advantage was taken of plaintiff.

Plaintiff's Point VIII

Plaintiff complains that the Court's conduct was prejudicial to him. Nothing could more clearly illustrate the belligerent disposition of the plaintiff than his conduct at his own trial. The truth of the matter is that the trial judge exhibited patience almost beyond belief before

he finally was forced to reprimand the plaintiff. The plaintiff was determined in this case to sound off and volunteer his own statements regardless of what questions were asked him and regardless of admonitions from the Court. No less than seventeen times during the course of the trial it was necessary for the Court to instruct the plaintiff to stop volunteering answers and to confine himself to the questions asked (R. 112, 114, 119, 123, 128, 129, 134, 135, 138, 139, 141, 143, 169, 170, 202, 210, 211). At R. 143, the plaintiff in a very insolent tone argued with the Court and told the Court that he was trying to be helpful. At R. 211 the Court finally administered the reprimand to the plaintiff that is complained of in plaintiff's brief. It is impossible to tell from the printed record exactly what the tone of voice was that was being used, but the Court's reporter from the top of R. 211 to the bottom of R. 211 did a remarkable job of reporting because what really happened was that the Court began to reprimand and instruct the plaintiff, and all the answers as shown at R. 211 by plaintiff were out and out interruptions of the Court's statements. The Court was attempting to make a statement and an instruction and a reprimand to plaintiff, and plaintiff in a rude and belligerent fashion kept butting in to the remarks that the Court was making. Plaintiff was lucky that he didn't get punished for contempt as a result of this incident.

There is little need to cite extensive authority for the proposition that the trial Court is certainly entitled, indeed has a duty, to keep the proceedings in his Court

orderly and to keep witnesses within proper bounds. The trial Court was well within his bounds of discretion in this incident, and the attempt on the part of plaintiff to now capitalize on his own misbehavior is typical of his conduct in the entire lawsuit. At 53 American Jurisprudence under the heading TRIAL at Section 74 found at Page 73 of said volume there is an excellent discussion relating to the conduct of the judge at trial. Section 81 at Page 79 of said volume deals with the conduct of the Court toward witnesses. The authorities there discussed show that without question the Court was entirely justified in his reprimand to the plaintiff. It was not even necessary for the Court to make the comments to the jury with respect to the incident that he did at R. 298, 299, but the trial Court wanted to be completely fair to the plaintiff, and, therefore, made these remarks.

Plaintiff's Point IX

The matter of the defendants' judgment for attorney's fees against the plaintiff will be discussed in respondents' Point IV at Page 41 of this brief.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF DID NOT RECEIVE A SEVERE BEATING OR ANYTHING APPROACHING IT AND WAS ONLY SUPERFICIALLY INJURED IN THE LAWFUL EFFORTS OF THE DEFENDANT OFFICERS TO RETAIN HIM IN CUSTODY.

Dr. Marshall S. Decker, the obstetrician who examined and treated the plaintiff, testified (R. 183) that he examined and treated the plaintiff on the 6th day of April, 1958. He testified that the plaintiff had bruises on the

shoulders, under the left armpit, over the right loin, and over the sacroiliac region (R. 184). Plaintiff within a day or two after the incident had large photographs taken of himself purporting to illustrate his tremendous injury, and these photographs were introduced as "Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7." The bruises mentioned by the doctor do not appear in these photographs. Since the plaintiff had large photographs taken of apparently every scratch he could find on him, it seems fair to assume that if these bruises had amounted to anything, he would have had pictures taken of them. However, be that as it may, the bruises are not shown in the photographs. The doctor further testified that there were abrasions and lacerations around the ankles and on both knees and kneecaps. The "wound" on the left ankle is shown on "Exhibit 5," and "Exhibits 4 and 7" show the ankle wounds on the right ankle. The damage to the knees and the kneecaps is not shown. The doctor testified that he found only two incisive wounds as opposed to abrasive wounds on the head of plaintiff (R. 185), and at R. 187 he said that those wounds appeared to be the same wounds as shown on plaintiff's "Exhibit 2" and also testified that the plaintiff had a bruise on the upper lid of his eye. This is shown on plaintiff's "Exhibit 3." Plaintiff's "Exhibit 6" presumably shows the rest of the head wounds that he received from what has been characterized in his brief from an unmerciful and brutal beating. We submit these photographs to the Court for examination without further comment on the severity of these wounds.

The doctor also testified that he thought the plaintiff's nose was broken and that it should be x-rayed to determine that, (R. 185). Plaintiff's "Exhibits 3 and 6" taken a day or two after the incident illustrate his nose. The appearance of the plaintiff's nose at the trial did not appear one bit different than it does in these photographs, and the jury must certainly have observed that fact. The plaintiff testified that his nose was indeed broken and that it was set at the Veterans Hospital, but he produced no x-rays and no witnesses whatsoever to testify to or verify this treatment. It would seem that if his nose had indeed been broken or (deviated) that this was his most serious physical damage, and if the proof was available it should have been presented. However, there was no evidence at all introduced by the plaintiff other than the observations of Dr. Decker without benefit of x-rays. Plaintiff did not submit any evidence of medical expenses and claimed no item of special damages in this connection.

POINT III

AS A MATTER OF LAW THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION FOR MALICIOUS PROSECUTION SHOULD NOT LIE AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS IN THIS CASE, AND IN ANY EVENT, THE FACTS AND EVIDENCE PRODUCED BY DEFENDANTS AT THE TRIAL CLEARLY ESTABLISHED A DEFENSE TO ANY SUCH CAUSE OF ACTION, AND THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS WERE NOT ERRONEOUS.

At the close of the plaintiff's evidence in the trial (R. 394) defendants made a motion to the Court to dismiss the plaintiff's third cause of action for malicious

prosecution on the ground that the action was not maintainable against the defendant police officers as a matter of law. At 28 A.L.R. (2d) Page 646 there appears the recent and latest annotation on the question of the civil liability of law enforcement officers for malicious prosecution. This is an excellent annotation, and it shows without question that the doctrine of immunity from suit is being extended to law enforcement officers in the various states whenever the question directly arises. The annotation discusses at length the pros and cons on the proposition of immunity. The prime case which heads the annotation is *White v. Towers*, 37 California (2d) 727, 235 Pac. (2d) 209; 28 A.L.R. (2d) 636. This is an excellent case, and we submit that this is a matter of first impression in this Court, and the Court should follow the California view in accordance with the majority view as set forth in the annotation. See in particular Sub-paragraph 2 of the annotation at Page 649. The California Court says, at Page 640 under headnote 3 in the A.L.R. citation, the following:

“We are aware of the fact that in thus surrounding peace officers with immunity in cases of this sort, hardship may result to some individuals. However, experience has shown that the common good is best served by permitting law enforcement officers to perform their assigned tasks without fear of being called to account in a civil action for alleged malicious prosecution. The doctrine of immunity from liability for allegedly malicious acts has long been established with respect to numerous public officers. In the early case of *Bradley v. Fisher*, 13 Wall 335, 20 L. Ed. 646, the

doctrine was applied to judges of courts of record. "The rule finds its genesis in the necessary protection of courts in the impartial, uninfluenced discharge of judicial duties.' Phelps v. Dawson, supra, 8 Cir., 97 F2d 339, 340, 116 ALR 1343. Since that time it has been recognized that the orderly administration of the affairs of government necessitates the inclusion of many officials within the cloak of immunity." (Cites cases)

Respondents submit that this Court should determine in this case that malicious prosecution suits do not and should not lie against law enforcement officers. Even in the event that this Court does not see fit to adopt the California and the majority rule, the facts and evidence produced by defendants at the trial clearly established a defense to any such cause of action, and the court's instructions to the jury on this cause were not in error.

Plaintiff complains of Instruction Nos. 18, 19, and 21. These Instructions are all based on the restatement on the Law of Torts in the volume containing Sections 504-756 and entitled "Torts Absolute Liability, Deceit, Defamation, Disparagement, Unjustifiable Litigation, etc." Instruction No. 18 is supported by the restatement discussion under Section 657, comment (a) and (b) at Page 393 of said restatement volume. Instruction No. 19 is based on Sections 662 and 665 of the said restatement volume, and Instruction No. 21 is based on Section 653. These restatement principles are not in conflict with any of the Utah cases cited, and the evidence is clear that none of the defendants except Jacobson ever instituted any proceedings before anyone, either by way of signing a

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